

Australian Army Research Centre

Piqued Oil Interest: Overstating the Priority for United States Military Fuel Sustainability in Australia

Martin White



Australian Army Research Centre

Piqued Oil Interest: Overstating the Priority for United States Military Fuel Sustainability in Australia

Australian Army Occasional Paper No. 5

Serving our Nation

© Commonwealth of Australia 2021

This publication is copyright. Apart from any fair dealing for the purposes of study, research, criticism or review (as permitted under the *Copyright Act 1968*), and with standard source credits included, no part may be reproduced by any process without written permission.

The views expressed in this publication are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the official policy or position of the Australian Army, the Department of Defence or the Australian Government.

ISSN (Online)	2653-0406
ISSN (Print)	2653-0414

All enquiries regarding this publication should be forwarded to the Director of the Australian Army Research Centre.

To learn about the work of the Australian Army Research Centre visit researchcentre.army.gov.au.

Contents

Abstract	1
Introduction	2
Peak Rhetoric	4
Fuelling Some of the People, Some of the Time	7
Bureaucracy Preventing Blowout	9
A Non-Stop Flight	13
Grounding the Fuel Convoys (in Existing Knowledge)	15
Back to Basics	18
Not Fuelly Committed	19
The Wrath of Wraith	25
Conclusion	32
Endnotes	34
About the Author	44

Australian Army Occasional Paper No. 5

Abstract

Reducing the United States military's petroleum consumption became a declared Obama Administration-era policy. This policy was often framed as a measure to address the tactical losses suffered during fuel supply operations in the Middle East, but there were notable links to environmental and broader energy security agendas. While the US military undertook a large number of mostly modest initiatives to reduce tactical fuel consumption, overall organisational fuel consumption has remained persistently steady for most of this century; consumption peaked during intense military operations in the Middle East, and existing military hardware continues to require large quantities of fuel. During this period, a prominent argument emerged in Australian strategic commentary suggesting that the Australian military should follow the lead of the United States by making major changes to reduce tactical fuel consumption. In making this demand, Australian commentators either misunderstood or misrepresented the extent of the fuel-related changes adopted by the US military. The lack of grounding in existing theory—either within Australian defence policy or within military logistics theory-and the common application of a basic comparison with the actions of the United States military has been predominant. While Australian policymakers have mostly considered military fuel sustainability and broader logistics to be lower priority issues, with some recent focus on domestic facilities and governance, commentators have focused on niche issues that could only be pursued if more fundamental aspects of the capability were established. Meaningful commentary would need to address relative fuel priorities in the Australian Department of Defence; the relative priority of fuel within military logistics; and the relative priority of military logistics within Australian defence policy. A lack of contextualisation has precluded an adequate understanding of the complexities associated with Australian military fuel sustainability.

Introduction

Based on a perceived major organisational shift in the United States (US) approach to military fuel sustainability, Australian strategic commentary regularly presented the idea that the Australian Department of Defence (herein referred to as 'Defence') should take more decisive actions in this area. A common view was that Australia should adopt the 'successful strategies' from the US to reduce military fuel consumption and related emissions.¹

While this commentary often comprised an environmental angle, fuel supply was clearly an operational challenge during previous Australian military missions, such as the International Force East Timor (INTERFET) commitment in 1999,² and military fuel sustainability is therefore an important topic for greater analysis. However, this paper will challenge the orthodoxy that the US took significant action to improve military fuel sustainability. The advocacy of Australian commentators was based on a mistaken understanding of what the US accomplished.

The vast gap in military fuel consumption between the US and all other nations has periodically been reflected in concerns raised by US policymakers and commentators. Indeed, access to fuel was a decisive factor during major 20th century wars.³ Identified military fuel concerns could generally be classified as either geological, relating to a fear of oil depletion;⁴ or geopolitical, relating to a fear of oil supply being withheld. These concerns were particularly prevalent during periods of elevated oil prices, although previous US efforts to mitigate any perceived risk were discontinued when oil prices subsequently fell;⁵ mitigating the perceived military risk of over-dependence on oil has consistently proven to be prohibitively expensive. More recently, environmental concerns have also encouraged interest in military fuel consumption.

On assuming US Secretary of Navy responsibilities in 2009, Ray Mabus came to epitomise the cause of military fuel sustainability for many; he quickly declared fuel issues to be one of his highest priorities, and he set some ambitious targets.⁶ And he was not the only actor who sought to influence military fuel sustainability at the time. US Congress determined that fuel was of sufficient importance to the military that an annual Congressional update has been mandated since 2012. National security strategies identified oil supply as a security concern.⁷ President Obama even periodically engaged on issues of military fuel sustainability.⁸ A vast body of US commentary emerged to overwhelmingly offer immense support for what was argued to be extensive action to improve US military fuel sustainability.

Secretary Mabus's tenure ended in 2017, and the declared US prioritisation of military fuel sustainability has diminished. However, there was a distinct gap between the rhetoric and the reality in the 2010s. Changes to military fuel sustainability during the Mabus era could best be described as incremental rather than profound. Accordingly, commentators who advocated for the Australian military to take more decisive fuel-related action because the US had done so either misinterpreted or misrepresented the extent to which the US military had enacted change.

Further, the Australian commentary seemingly wished away the fundamental problems relating to military fuel sustainability in Australia. Fuel and broader logistics have long been declared to be a lower Defence priority. When senior-level attention eventually turned to fuel around 2014, the focus was on the most basic aspects—trying to remediate significant problems with Australian-based (non-deployable) fuel infrastructure. Australian military fuel sustainability commentary lacked any sense of how suggestions such as the uptake of very specific biofuels⁹ might be prioritised against, or emerge from, the existing military fuel infrastructure in Australia.

This paper will use the term 'military fuel sustainability' to describe the approach taken by policymakers to procure, distribute, tactically supply, protect and consume fuel for military purposes. The term 'sustainability' refers to the fact that fuel is an essential requirement to achieve the military mission.

Australian Army Occasional Paper No. 5

Peak Rhetoric

There is no doubting the enormous tactical fuel supply challenges faced by the US military during its 21st century military operations. Military and civilian personnel who distributed fuel around Iraq and Afghanistan often faced extraordinary risk. Although estimates vary, a vast number of the US casualties from Middle Eastern operations occurred during resupply convoys.¹⁰ In a technologically sophisticated military with widely dispersed forces, US military commanders had little choice but to repeatedly send fuel convoys around these countries to allow for continued military operations.

Even prior to the Middle Eastern wars, the US had faced tactical fuel supply risk and acknowledged its limited options to mitigate such risk; for example, the 2001 terrorist attack in Yemen on the United States Ship *Cole* raised US consciousness that tactical fuel supply was a vulnerability for a force that needed to operate globally in areas of heightened military threat, and that the US had a small number of imperfect resupply alternatives.¹¹

Although rarely a central consideration in military operational planning, the challenges and risks associated with military fuel sustainability have long been accepted in US military doctrine.¹² The risks associated with military fuel sustainability have not always been translated into policy, but policy pressure started to mount as the tactical fuel challenges in the Middle East became more apparent. Internal reviews, such as Defense Science Board reports from 2001 and 2008, offered concerning views of the US military's reliance on fuel.¹³

So fuel was on the military radar when Ray Mabus became Secretary of Navy in 2009. The internal reviews and a growing body of US commentary on military fuel sustainability had raised awareness of the risks facing the US military. He wasted little time in declaring military fuel sustainability to be one of his highest priorities for the US Navy, and articulated several aims consistently during his tenure. These aims included operational aims such as reducing the need for platforms to continually refuel; energy independence aims such as reducing the US reliance on foreign oil suppliers; and environmental aims, which included a desire to reduce carbon dioxide emissions.¹⁴ Military fuel sustainability became the issue du jour for Secretary Mabus, and he routinely provided public and Congressional briefings on the matter.

Secretary Mabus was a driving force, but he was by no means the only prominent US actor to demonstrate a piqued interest in military fuel sustainability. Congress legislated an annual reporting requirement, with the Fiscal Year 2012 Operational Energy Annual Report the first in an ongoing series.¹⁵ Other government entities increased their scrutiny of military fuel sustainability.¹⁶ Joint Chiefs of Staff,¹⁷ and even President Obama, regularly commented on aspects of military fuel sustainability.¹⁸ 'Great Green Fleet' and 'Hybrid Humvee' became catchphrases that were synonymous with the US military's efforts to address fuel risks and reduce consumption.

Fuel and energy issues were raised in profile. Entities such as the little-known Defense Logistics Agency Energy came into public view.¹⁹ Broader military and societal efforts such as climate change mitigation brought even more scrutiny to the military's use of fuel, particularly as the US military signalled that its climate change mitigation efforts were 'mainly through changes in our energy use'.²⁰ US military doctrine positioned fuel as a more central issue and a 'limiting factor', particularly in the US Air Force, where the most fuel is consumed.²¹

Concurrently, US commentary on military fuel sustainability hit a peak. This commentary almost exclusively presented two key themes. First, commentators encouraged US policymakers and the military to take decisive action to reduce fuel consumption and expand the use of alternatives. Second, commentators were highly supportive of the actions already being taken by the military, although they often conflated legislated requirements to reduce domestic energy consumption (which were quite extensive and particularly focused on increasing renewable energy in domestic facilities²²) with actions to reduce tactical petroleum consumption (a much harder proposition). For example, some felt that the US was 'systematically address[ing] the need to decrease the amount of energy used in tactical weapon systems'.²³ One commentator admired the admirals' ability to 'solve intractable problems' (referring to the US reliance on foreign-supplied oil) that 'stymie the rest of us';²⁴ many felt that the US military would successfully 'replace petroleum with renewable and non-polluting biofuels'.²⁵ The commentary was extensive and overwhelmingly consistent in its message.²⁶

Declared US military fuel sustainability initiatives were developed and expanded. Secretary Mabus's 'Great Green Fleet'—the 'transformation' of an aircraft carrier strike group to alternative fuel sources and using energy conservation measures—was the highest profile of these initiatives.²⁷ However, the Services were also empowered to propose a large number of other initiatives relating to military fuel sustainability.²⁸ By many accounts, the US military was transforming its fuel use and leading the nation by doing so.

Fuelling Some of the People, Some of the Time

Australia is fortunate in that it can examine successful climate change security strategies that key allies ... are implementing.²⁹

US commentary and declared policy proved to be influential in shaping the debate in Australia through the 2010s. Australian commentators quickly sought to translate the message from the US into the Australian context, and the perceived US actions to improve military fuel sustainability became a more significant topic in Australia.

Australian commentators regularly made definitive recommendations based on the perceived US action. One prominent group of commentators argued that the 'unprepared and uninformed defence force' should follow the US Navy's efforts to lessen climate change impacts by 'reducing petroleum use'.³⁰ Others felt that 'a stark contrast' existed between US and Australian actions to reduce fuel consumption.³¹ Others inferred that Defence did not necessarily understand the full extent that the US military was going to in its effort to improve military fuel sustainability.³² One commentator argued that Australia's 'military ... mobility [would become] unaffordable' if changes were not made.³³

Commentary was not solely focused from a military fuel sustainability perspective. Indeed, a significant component of the Australian commentary viewed the issue through a lens of environmental sustainability, given that the military's fuel consumption is its primary source of greenhouse gas emissions.

The environmental sustainability viewpoint was dominant during a 2018 Senate references committee review. This political review—which reiterated

Australian Army Occasional Paper No. 5 Piqued Oil Interest: Overstating the Priority for United States Military Fuel Sustainability in Australia the belief that the US was progressing with a significant organisational transformation—made recommendations to set ambitious targets to reduce Australian military emissions and operational fuel consumption. Commentators who contributed to the review represented entities who had little historical involvement in military affairs but whose organisations primarily sought reductions to Australia's greenhouse gas emissions.³⁴ To many of these groups, the military was another source of emissions and its fuel consumption was a logical target. And evidence that the US military was taking major steps to reduce its fuel consumption proved compelling to transpose into an Australian context.

The 2018 Senate review was one of a number of Australian reviews which raised the prospect that military fuel sustainability needed to be prioritised higher than it had been.³⁵ Australian defence policy historically accepted fuel and broader logistics to be areas where a level of risk could be accepted, with the potential to build up capacity over time if a more significant military threat to Australia emerged. However, cautious fuel recommendations were eventually made in Australian defence policy.³⁶ As a result, a number of investments were made, although these mostly addressed major problems with the military's domestic fuel infrastructure rather than shortfalls for deployed forces, and they were concerned with assurance of fuel supply capability, not with reduced fuel consumption.³⁷ Some tenuous claims made in lower-level Defence policy—such as an intent to minimise the military's environmental 'footprint' during overseas operations³⁸—were not reiterated in more authoritative sources.

Ultimately, however, senior Defence leaders began to question the extent of the US action to change military fuel sustainability. For example, in 2018 the Australian Vice Chief of Defence Force stated:

... I think a bit of the steam has come out of the momentum on that ... with the change of administration ... There is no viable [US] domestic biofuel industry in the quantities that are required ... it does not have great momentum at the moment.³⁹

The extent of US actions to influence military fuel sustainability will now be considered.

Bureaucracy Preventing Blowout

An oil well blowout is the uncontrolled release of oil (or other liquids and gases) from a well, after the failure of existing safeguards. Preventing a blowout is a critical requirement for oil well drilling, and the basic techniques for preventing a blowout have been similar for the last century.

Military bureaucracies similarly have well-established methods (both intentional and unstated) to limit the ability of individual actors or policies to achieve wholesale change or add risk to the system, thereby preventing a 'blowout' in terms of resources and organisational priorities. As a result, military strategy can sometimes suffer from a disjunction between declared policy and operational practice, if rhetoric precipitously precedes what can actually be achieved. This paper contends that despite the strong rhetoric in the 2010s relating to changes to US military fuel sustainability, change could at most be described as incremental, and policies during the period of peak interest from 2009 to 2017 effectively had little strategic impact, with organisational fuel consumption continuing to rise.⁴⁰

There is no doubt that US military and political leadership changes in 2017 heralded the de-prioritisation of military fuel sustainability in declared policy. For example, Navy Secretary Spencer did not refer to fuel in his 'Mission, Vision and Priorities';⁴¹ nor did the 2018 Department of the Navy Business Operations Plan,⁴² despite the predominance of Secretary Mabus's fuel-related plans up until 2017. It is also possible that changes in leadership even prevented some of the most ambitious military fuel sustainability plans from being fully realised, thereby limiting the impact of some initiatives.

Further, there is also little doubt that Secretary Mabus and others genuinely sought significant improvements to military fuel sustainability, and this saw a sustained focus on the issue for a number of years. The extensive range of US fuel initiatives throughout the 2010s⁴³ resulted in a commendable number of fuel efficiency achievements.⁴⁴

However, the US Department of Defense is vast and can be difficult to change, particularly as it is an organisation that almost exclusively values operational performance over other considerations. Further, the different Services have different fuel priorities. For example, the US Army cares deeply about dispersed tactical distribution in a specific theatre, whereas the US Air Force must protect bulk quantities of fuel at air bases; this makes organisational coordination more difficult. As a result, outside the political rhetoric and consistently overstated US commentary, almost all evidence points to the fact that the US military was unable to change its overall fuel consumption habits, and that there was a growing gap in the 2010s between declared policy and operational practice.

While the US rhetoric consistently focused on specific initiatives, the overall figures are perhaps the most telling. One notable organisation-wide fuel consumption reduction has occurred since 2010, and this was caused by a major reduction in operational effort in the Middle East.⁴⁵ Apart from that reduction, which was specific to US operational circumstances, there was no reduction to military fuel consumption on an organisational scale. Consumption remained consistent, and fuel was procured at rates of around 100 million barrels per year. This figure has been consistent in recent times, and also prior to the 2001 commencement of the war in Afghanistan (at which time it grew to meet operational requirements).⁴⁶ There is also no forecasted reduction in future consumption, with credible military analysts seeing few technology improvements that will reduce military fuel consumption.⁴⁷

The figures showing overall organisational fuel consumption achievement are arguably the most consequential, but they are often not clearly presented and they can be lost in volumes of other information and public commentary on military fuel sustainability. As a result of the annual reporting requirements, the large amount of internal military correspondence and the significant amount of positive US commentary on military initiatives, there is a sizeable quantity of largely repetitive information available on US military fuel sustainability. Information of this nature makes analysis somewhat challenging. However, there are numerous examples relating to prominent fuel-related projects that demonstrate how a large volume of information can suggest that significant changes are afoot, but where the end results are less compelling. Hybrid electric propulsion systems, 'Hybrid Humvees', and the 'Great Green Fleet' are three examples to be highlighted.

First, the initiative for hybrid electric propulsion systems to be retrofitted to US warships was regularly detailed, and scholars periodically assessed this project to have 'demonstrated positive developments'.⁴⁸ The amount of information released, and the sense within the released information that the project was on track, could easily have given an impression that a significant amount was being achieved. However, a trace of the timeline paints a clearer picture of relative progression.

Informed by exploratory studies,⁴⁹ Secretary Mabus introduced a plan in 2009 for the hybrid systems to be installed on 12 vessels.⁵⁰ However, in 2012 the Department of Defense identified savings made from outfitting a sole vessel to that point. In 2013 the US Navy again highlighted hybrid propulsion as an important initiative; subsequently another plan indicated 34 Navy vessels would be retrofitted.⁵¹ In 2016 the Navy was said to be 'on schedule' to retrofit three vessels within a year. The 2017 Operational Energy Annual Report stated that the 'initial fielding testing on one DDG-51 began in late 2017',⁵² and further studies were undertaken.⁵³ In 2018 the US Navy de-prioritised hybrid propulsion and the project was cancelled. In 2019, members of the US House Armed Services Committee sought to reinvigorate hybrid propulsion development.⁵⁴

The retrofitting of hybrid electric propulsion to US Navy vessels was highlighted extensively over more than a decade, backed by some scientific data. Despite the periodic appearance of progression, the timeline indicates that the objectives for the project were regularly changed. The technical challenges and expense ultimately proved fatal for the project.

Second, the 'Hybrid Humvee' was said to be one electric vehicle (EV) project from a 'Department of Defense up to its elbows in cutting edge EV projects'.⁵⁵ The reality was different. The US Army's planned procurement of a 'Hybrid Humvee' was periodically foreshadowed over the course of a decade and used to suggest a growing fuel consciousness in the US military,⁵⁶ but in 2015 the Army decided to procure a diesel-powered

vehicle, with the diesel needed to meet its performance requirements.⁵⁷ Even if the project had come to fruition, the term 'Hybrid Humvee' suggests a level of environmental awareness that may not actually have been present.

Third, the 'Great Green Fleet' was the program that became Secretary Mabus's most important example of major organisational change. The fleet concept was marketed consistently in public commentary. Claims that the Navy was now 'greener' and that the fleet offered a 'strategic advantage'⁵⁸ were difficult to reconcile with the fact that the eventual fleet operated on a blend of 90 per cent standard marine diesel and the aircraft carrier remained nuclear powered (as it has always been). This is not to understate the technical and organisational challenge of achieving the 10 per cent ethanol consumption outcome, but it again puts into perspective how difficult fundamental change to military fuel sustainability is, and highlights the vastly overstated nature of much of the commentary.

Apart from major equipment procurements, further mismatch between perception and reality was observable on military operations. For example, much was made in US commentary of a directive from General David Petraeus when he commanded US forces in Afghanistan. General Petraeus formally sought technology to help reduce operational fuel consumption.⁵⁹ But any reduction in overall fuel distribution and consumption was difficult to discern, and ultimately the operational requirement was for fuel to be distributed widely across the country.⁶⁰ Indeed, other simultaneous measures increased fuel consumption, including the additional armouring of vehicles due to the risk of improvised explosive devices,⁶¹ and the provision of additional security forces to protect regularly traversed routes.⁶² General Petraeus's demand captured headlines, but the reality was more mundane and with little overall effect on military fuel sustainability.

Fuel rhetoric also exceeded reality at times in US politics. For example, the Giffords-Udall bill 'Department of Defense Energy Security Act of 2010' invoked the (very real) threat to fuel supply convoys in the Middle East as a means to justify the proposed legislation.⁶³ Yet the Act (which ultimately remained unlegislated) almost exclusively focused on measures to reduce domestic military energy consumption on bases, and would not have improved tactical aspects of military fuel sustainability.

A Non-Stop Flight

The initiatives to implement change to military fuel sustainability stand in stark contrast to projects that embed existing fuel consumption habits over the long term. Major US military procurements that entailed significant implications for the long-term level of military fuel consumption continued over the 2009 to 2017 period, with no obvious pressure to consider military fuel sustainability issues. For example, the US\$1 trillion Joint Strike Fighter program is far more consequential in reinforcing existing fuel requirements than measures that were taken to change military fuel sustainability. Two other examples are as follows.

First, the KC-46 Pegasus, an air-to-air refuelling capability, was a high priority for the US Air Force⁶⁴ and was considered essential to ensure US force projection.⁶⁵ Some senior Air Force officers argued that 550 to 650 of these aircraft may be needed,⁶⁶ and the US\$35 billion project was initially scoped for 179 aircraft.⁶⁷

Second, costing over US\$1 billion per vessel, the planned fleet of 20 John Lewis Class oiler tankers (designated T-AO 205) is a substantial investment to ensure the reliable provision of fuel to deployed Navy vessels. A Congressional submission relating to the tankers did not highlight any considerations relating to alternative fuel sources, and performance remained the primary consideration.⁶⁸ A more recent Congressional submission identified increasing oiler demands, and stated that 20 vessels would now be the minimum number required to support more distributed maritime operations.⁶⁹

There is little question from any quarter that the oil tankers and the air-to-air refuelling aircraft are critical for a military superpower with global interests. Yet their procurement will almost certainly lock in historically high rates of operational fuel consumption into the future, particularly given the fact that 75 per cent of US military energy consumption relates to tactical fuel, the vast majority of which is consumed by the Navy and Air Force. These long-term procurements have always been far more influential on military fuel sustainability than the lesser initiatives that were raised during the 2010s, and clearly demonstrate that US policymakers support the US military's primary emphasis on equipment performance over all other factors. Anything that could potentially jeopardise US strategic interests would never be countenanced.

Ultimately there were a substantial number of military fuel sustainability initiatives and trials raised, examined and pursued. Many were successfully completed. However, the inertia of the US military bureaucratic system, and the need for military performance over any other factor, clearly inhibited strategic change to US military fuel sustainability. The level of information produced relating to military fuel sustainability, and the large number of fuel initiatives that were raised prior to 2017, could understandably mislead a casual observer; however, organisational figures and forecasts show that the US military has not fundamentally changed its approach to fuel.

This invites the question: Why did so many Australian commentators forcefully advocate for the Australian military to follow the US into making significant changes to military fuel sustainability when fundamental change did not actually occur?

Grounding the Fuel Convoys (in Existing Knowledge)

There exists a large and credible body of established theory on Australian defence policy, particularly since the Second World War. There also exists a large body of historically established theory on military logistics. Australian military fuel sustainability sits firmly within both of these bodies of grounded theory. Yet commentators rarely invoked either existing theoretical or practical basis to contextualise or strengthen their observations, preferring simple comparisons with perceived US actions. As such, this prevented a shared understanding of the factors affecting military fuel sustainability in Australia, and the lack of contextualisation represents a weakness in the Australian literature.

First, there are many fundamental aspects of Australian defence policy that have direct relevance to military fuel sustainability. For example, there is a longstanding debate relating to the relative priorities of defending the continent and operating in the nearer region, versus the more prevalent requirement to operate further afield (often in support of the US).

This ongoing debate has fundamental implications for Australian military fuel sustainability. These implications include how much Australia can rely on US fuel supply, and in what circumstances; how the *Liquid Fuel Emergency Act 1984*—which legislated the ability for the Australian Government to prioritise fuel for military purposes, away from civilian and commercial uses⁷⁰—would be operationalised; the degree to which the Australian Government's acceptance of a lower level of operational readiness for logistics adds risk to a military response;⁷¹ and the relative importance of military purple sustainability compared to the many pressing non-fuel-related military problems. One could reasonably expect military fuel sustainability

commentary to touch on these issues. However, these matters were rarely raised in the literature, and therefore proposals such as the use of a specific biofuel for Royal Australian Air Force aircraft, which was not contextualised into a defence policy or broader logistic framework,⁷² leave more questions than answers and do not bring clarity to the issue of Australian military fuel sustainability.

Second, the lack of reference to longstanding military logistics theory further brings into question the validity of some of the military fuel sustainability commentary.

Much of the commentary relating to the assurance of fuel supply for military use did not reference the Defence logistics system; nor was the question of how Australia may independently supply an alternative fuel blend such as ethanol to an operational area addressed.⁷³ Enduring observations from classical logistics theorists such as Thorpe and Eccles—particularly relating to the consistently low priority of *all* military logistics (not just fuel)— were absent.⁷⁴ The effect of 'competition' between different classes of logistic supply (such as fuel and rations), particularly during scenarios such as resupply missions, was absent.⁷⁵ The historical consistency of national prioritisation of resources for the exceptional military role during a period of national emergency was mostly absent. Even Australian logistics doctrine was rarely noted.

The failure to ground commentary in established theory was particularly detrimental to much of the commentary that viewed military fuel sustainability through an environmental lens. Given that the Australian military only contributes approximately one-third of 1 per cent of national greenhouse gas emissions⁷⁶—a 'drop in the ocean' compared to national users⁷⁷—and is responsible for a mission of national importance, any argument which advocates for fundamental changes to military fuel sustainability as a method to reduce Australia's carbon emissions must start on precarious ground.

Compelling the military to reduce its energy consumption in non-operational areas, such as domestic facilities, is reasonable and responsible and should be pursued. However, arguments such as 'there is no reason why Defence should not set an ambitious target in terms of moving towards alternative fuels'—which imply major changes to operational practices—are more problematic, and they are further compromised by the misrepresentation

of US military fuel sustainability action and the lack of grounding in existing theory. These weaker environment-related arguments have the potential to distract from other more reasonable positions relating to the nexus between the military and the environment. For example, commentators such as Thomas have argued that military forces need to be prepared to respond to more climate change related events,⁷⁸ but that important message is easy to lose among less compelling and non-contextualised arguments.

In summary, the majority of Australian commentary throughout the 2010s relating to military fuel sustainability was not grounded in well-established theory relating to defence policy and military logistics. When combined with the fact that the US military has not made significant changes to its own military fuel sustainability, the validity of much of the Australian commentary is brought into question and an inaccurate picture of the factors affecting Australian military fuel sustainability has emerged. Further, Australian commentary fuel sustainability in Australia. These will now be examined.

Back to Basics

This paper has identified a number of key factors that are relevant to consideration of military fuel sustainability in Australia. Changes to US military fuel sustainability were not strategically significant; military fuel consumption represents a very small component of Australian carbon emissions; and logistics and fuel have long been a declared lower priority in Australian defence policy. Further, US and commercial providers have consistently and effectively provided fuel to Australian military forces when conducting expeditionary military operations since the Second World War.⁷⁹ Put simply, military fuel sustainability has not been a primary issue for recent Australian governments, because the problems associated with military fuel sustainability have not been strategically urgent.⁸⁰ However, underinvestment in Australia-based military fuel infrastructure over the course of decades has seen a number of significant emerging problems. When set against this context, much of the Australian military fuel sustainability commentary could fairly be criticised for focusing on marginal issues. This marginal issue focus has limited the attention given to some more mundane but fundamental aspects of military fuel sustainability.

A recent Commander Joint Logistics (CJLOG)—the most senior logistics officer in the military—identified that Defence's fuel governance hit a 'crisis point' around 2013 as the organisational risk from underinvestment in domestic fuel facilities became impossible for policymakers to ignore.⁸¹ A chronology of military fuel sustainability issues since INTERFET will demonstrate how domestic fuel governance risks finally reached the point where major changes had to be made, and why governance remediation has reasonably been the predominant Defence focus in matters of military fuel sustainability.

Not Fuelly Committed

Military fuel sustainability concerns have rarely been identified in the deployed context. In military operations in the Middle East, reliable fuel supply was provided by US and commercial providers. Australia has also maintained a modest baseline of tactical fuel distribution capabilities. For example, Her Majesty's Australian Ships *Sirius* and *Success* performed important fuel distribution functions for the Royal Australian Navy over the course of several decades.⁸² Joint Project 157 provided Army with a level of fuel supply capacity.⁸³

In the only example of a large independent operation, significant fuel supply concerns emerged during INTERFET.⁸⁴ However, the challenges associated with INTERFET have not been replicated in other deployed environments since that time, and the structures established within Defence since that time have mostly been centred on ensuring minimal but sufficient fuel governance and infrastructure, and relying on tactical fuel provision from others. In the main, this was an effective approach.

While INTERFET was a tactical military mission, at the same time evidence was emerging that Defence was facing significant domestic fuel governance challenges. Scrutiny was applied to military fuel sustainability through a 2002 Australian National Audit Office (ANAO) audit. ANAO made recommendations relating to fuel supply chain management that Defence agreed to implement.⁸⁵ The audit noted that numerous previous reviews of military fuel sustainability were not acted upon, an indication of the lower organisational priority of fuel sustainability at this time, even against the backdrop of external scrutiny. As a result of the 2002 audit, Defence reviewed and partially clarified the responsibilities of the many disparate military entities that were involved in fuel sustainability.⁸⁶ Even so, Defence did not always comply with government direction on fuel issues,⁸⁷ with no apparent repercussions as a result of non-compliance, an indication of a view of military operations as being exceptional and sometimes not subject to the same pressure to meet legislative and policy requirements.

In response to the 2002 ANAO review, Defence established the Defence Fuel Management Committee (DFMC). DFMC minutes described the requirement of the DFMC to 'combat ANAO recommendations'⁸⁸—in part to take the actions necessary to comply with ANAO's recommendations, although use of the term 'combat' implies an intention to resist certain recommendations and limit the potential for unwanted criticism. This paper contends that the DFMC has only ever had the capacity to respond to the most pressing fuel governance concerns, due to the limited provision of resources to military fuel sustainability functions, despite the declared remit of the DFMC suggesting a wider interest. There could be no reasonable expectation that major changes relating to alternative fuels would be actioned by the DFMC; yet, as the pre-eminent entity responsible for military fuel sustainability matters in Defence, the DFMC's role and responsibilities did not feature in Australian commentary.

The first iteration of the DFMC commenced in December 2003. The DFMC met irregularly, with its declared primary role to focus on operational objectives and price risk management.⁸⁹ The Joint Fuels and Lubricants Agency, an organisation within the Defence Materiel Organisation mostly concerned with the procurement of fuel rather than with more strategic matters, convened the DFMC at this time.⁹⁰ The focus was firmly on governance aspects. Other stated functions of the DFMC were to develop a strategic fuel policy for Defence, including monitoring future trends; to analyse fuel consumption;⁹¹ and to manage price unpredictability and reduce (or prevent) growth in fuel expenditure.⁹²

For most of its history, the DFMC was subordinate to the Defence Logistics Board (this entity became the Defence Logistics Committee (DLC)), and the DFMC was careful to ensure that the role of the individual Services was not seen to be usurped.⁹³ The 2008 DFMC terms of reference positioned the committee as subordinate to the DLC, and identified that a one-star military officer was the DFMC's chair.⁹⁴ The DFMC comprised representatives from each of the Service headquarters, Joint Logistics Command, the Estate and Infrastructure Group, the Capability Acquisition and Sustainment Group, and Defence's strategic headquarters. The recent transition of the DFMC to become a near-equivalent entity to the DLC was due to the contemporary focus on fuel governance.⁹⁵

The first DFMC attendance list indicated that no military officer above the rank of Lieutenant Colonel regularly attended committee meetings.⁹⁶ This indicated that the Services saw only a limited role for the DFMC and, more broadly, had not prioritised fuel sustainability as a significant issue, despite the ANAO audit and the challenges associated with fuel supply during INTERFET. The first iteration of the DFMC continued for several years, with periodic indications that interest was waning. The minutes from the May 2005 DFMC indicated that the preceding DFMC meeting occurred more than eight months before and that no minutes were produced, and the May 2005 meeting was declared to be a 'new start' for the committee.⁹⁷ Another indication of the lack of priority assigned to the DFMC was a consistently rotating or temporary fill-in for the chair position. For example, in the minutes from 14 DFMC meetings from 2003 to 2013, there were 10 different committee chairs.

The Directorate of Strategic Fuel (the predecessor organisation to the Fuel Services Branch, within Joint Logistics Command) and the DFMC occasionally stated a desire to be more expansive in addressing military fuel sustainability concerns beyond basic governance and domestic facility outcomes. For example, a 2004 DFMC meeting suggested that its terms of reference could move away from remediating ANAO recommendations and towards contemporary issues and Service support.⁹⁸ In the May 2005 DFMC meeting, a committee member argued that the terms of reference should 'focus somewhat less on the financial aspects of fuel management, but should aim to reflect the Committee's role as a body that coordinates fuel related activities across the whole of Defence'.⁹⁹

However, the DFMC and Directorate of Strategic Fuel were not even resourced to implement some non-trivial but basic governance requirements. For example, an electronic fuel management information system, identified as a need in the 2002 ANAO audit,¹⁰⁰ was estimated in 2005 to be complete in the second half of 2006¹⁰¹ but in 2010 was estimated to be complete by mid-2011.¹⁰² The Joint Fuel Information Management System was declared operational in December 2011 but required ongoing enhancement.¹⁰³ An ANAO report from 2017–18 again identified information technology deficiencies causing fuel supply chain problems, with an anticipated systems remediation date of 2022.¹⁰⁴ If fuel sustainability had been a higher priority and had been provided more resources, earlier completion of this project (and fewer delays) could reasonably have been expected.

The first iteration of the DFMC was disbanded in 2007, with no reasons outlined in DFMC correspondence. The likely reasons were waning Service interest and the long period of time that had elapsed since the ANAO audit, despite a belief that there was still a need for the function provided by the committee.¹⁰⁵ The 2004 DFMC terms of reference focused on addressing the ANAO audit recommendations,¹⁰⁶ and as corporate knowledge of this audit diminished over time, and as some tasks were

achieved, the need for the DFMC reduced. The loss of Service interest in the forum was indicated through DFMC minutes from 2006, with an appeal to the Services to 'provide an honest assessment as to the value and future direction of the DFMC'.¹⁰⁷

Governance and expenditure concerns soon provided the impetus for a DFMC-like function. Defence re-established the DFMC in 2008, as the price of oil reached 148 Australian dollars (2008 figures) per barrel.¹⁰⁸ Concurrently, political interest in military fuel sustainability was again piqued, with a Senate standing committee recommending that Defence 'adopt a more assertive strategy' towards mitigating oil shocks and developing alternative fuels to reduce a perceived dependence on oil-based platforms. The joint standing committee recommended, imprecisely and without any stated reasons, that Defence should be able to deploy military hardware that was not reliant on oil within 10 years.¹⁰⁹ Cost was a motive for some on the joint standing committee, and some external experts considered it to be in Defence's best interests for more extensive modelling and scenarios to be established to mitigate the risk of crude oil price rises.¹¹⁰ Defence did not endorse this non-binding and unrealistic recommendation, and confirmed that military equipment would remain reliant on oil for at least 20 years.¹¹¹ However, the motivation for Defence leaders to reinvigorate a coordinating entity for fuel issues was evident, both to respond to cost and governance pressures and to address political concerns.

The September 2008 DFMC minutes indicated that the DFMC had been 're-invigorated'.¹¹² Reinvigoration was a theme that was also applied to wider military logistical functions in 2010,¹¹³ although logistics was consistently treated as a low priority across most military forces, with military logistics capacity in Australia consistently and pragmatically reduced rather than reinvigorated. 'Reinvigoration' could not reasonably imply the enhancement of fuel or logistical capacity to a previous high level, because no such logistics apogee had been reached.¹¹⁴ The second iteration of the DFMC was made a somewhat higher priority than the first iteration. Defence star-rank and other senior officers formed part of the second DFMC,¹¹⁵ although some senior officers delegated attendance to their subordinates after the first meeting.¹¹⁶

Australian Army Occasional Paper No. 5

Similar to the first DFMC iteration, the 2008 DFMC attempted to move into broader fuel issues but was not resourced to do so. The 2008 DFMC terms of reference declared that the committee's primary role was to 'develop the whole of Defence agenda for fuel by providing strategic guidance and policy direction on fuel issues to ensure effective support to ADF operations'.¹¹⁷ The Directorate of Strategic Fuel also developed a 'vision' and strategic objectives for military fuel sustainability, although without policymakers actively supporting and resourcing such ambitious objectives they were not achieved.¹¹⁸ Despite concerns about the limited focus of the DFMC, governance and consumption forecasting remained the DFMC's primary function,¹¹⁹ and this limited focus caused no immediate problems for Defence.

There were emerging references to fuel in defence policy. Consistent with US actions around the same time and concomitant with record oil prices, the Rudd Government used the 2009 Defence White Paper and other policy documents to acknowledge that improved military fuel sustainability was necessary. The 2009 White Paper stated:

Defence's fuel management will be improved. This will have national impacts, as Defence is a significant national user of fuel. A strategic fuel management program will be put in place to coordinate all aspects of fuel management.¹²⁰

This is evidence of an emerging understanding of some of the strategic risks that were appearing in domestic fuel infrastructure, but with few specific actions outlined. However, the 2009 White Paper's suggestion that Defence influenced national fuel markets was broadly rejected.¹²¹ A 2009 Senate standing committee report stated, 'Defence is a comparatively minor user of fuel within the broader national context'.¹²² Interviews with military subject matter experts reinforced the view that, while the fuel industry saw Defence as a valued customer, Defence did not influence the market. Military procurement of fuel was described as a 'rounding error' in the national context—that is, an insignificant proportion of national consumption—and concern about military preparedness certainly did not influence national decisions on matters such as petroleum refining capacity in Australia.¹²³

From within Defence, frustrated by a perceived lack of action to address the emerging issue of fuel availability risk,¹²⁴ numerous military officers formed a group known as the Australian Defence Force Peak Oil Study Group. This group was active for several years, commencing around the time of the 2009 White Paper. It argued that global oil depletion was a pressing military concern but that Defence had taken insufficient action to mitigate the risk.¹²⁵ A classified forum was established to allow interested military personnel to exchange ideas. Although the Australian Defence Force Peak Oil Study Group and the classified forum generated some interest from serving personnel, there is no evidence of resultant Defence actions.

Lower-level defence policy and procedures continued to emphasise the importance of fuel for military operations in 2009 and 2010, but without gaining a high profile. For example, Defence refined its processes in the event of an activation of the Liquid Fuel Emergency Act and the need for military prioritisation.¹²⁶ Defence fuel doctrine also continued to be released.¹²⁷

The DFMC could not be considered fully effective if assessed against its 2008 terms of reference, given such declared roles as influencing 'design criteria for new capability acquisitions'.¹²⁸ However, the DFMC addressed the most pressing governance issues and brought scrutiny to Defence fuel budgets and forecasts. Other responsibilities, such as the introduction of alternative fuel types, were far lower priorities. The DFMC also oversaw important fuel-related issues and projects, such as rationalisation of fuel types,¹²⁹ and necessary improvements to some domestic fuel facilities.¹³⁰ The transition from Service to joint responsibility for the purchase and distribution of fuel was a challenging but required action from the ANAO audit¹³¹ and was successfully achieved. The second iteration of the DFMC (from 2008) was more consistent in its achievements than the first DFMC iteration, and it was generally agreed that modest governance improvements had been made.¹³²

However, further external scrutiny crystallised the fact that military fuel sustainability risks were continuing to increase.

Australian Army Occasional Paper No. 5

The Wrath of Wraith

As we turned over rocks, we found nasty things.¹³³

There were at least six major external reviews of military fuel sustainability after 2010. These included reviews by Marshall, KPMG, Jacobs/SKM and Aurecon.¹³⁴ Further, 2011 federal workplace health and safety legislation led to a significant Defence undertaking to ensure compliance.¹³⁵ A fuel remediation plan, led by a two-star officer, commenced in 2012. This plan sought to resolve Defence non-compliance with legislation and policy.¹³⁶ As part of this plan, the DFMC was (once again) thought to require a 'refocus', and the lack of centralised management and lack of action taken on 'lots of audits' were considered fundamental problems to address.¹³⁷ The 2013 Defence Fuels Seminar was almost entirely focused on legislative compliance, as were subsequent DFMC meetings.¹³⁸ The involvement of the two-star officer highlighted the importance that Defence placed on ensuring compliance with the *Work Health and Safety Act 2011*.

The many reviews of military fuel sustainability were punctuated by further warning signs arising from non-fuel-specific reviews and policy. The 2012 Force Structure Review highlighted previously raised concerns about domestic fuel governance, and labelled 'Strategic Fuel Issues' as the primary critical risk to sustaining operations.¹³⁹ The 2013 Defence White Paper went further, outlining support to remediate the fuel sustainability recommendations from the 2012 Force Structure Review. The 2013 White Paper restated the need to make domestic improvements to military fuel sustainability, particularly in Australia's north.¹⁴⁰ The 2015 First Principles Review sought to make Defence's governance and expenditure more accountable by establishing a 'strong strategic centre' to optimise the advice provided to government on strategy, capability and resourcing, with greater monitoring of organisational performance.¹⁴¹ Some argued that the creation of joint headquarters in Defence, such as Headquarters Joint Operations Command, brought a number of fuel and logistical problems to the fore over time,¹⁴² and there was broad acceptance at senior levels within Defence that too much risk was being accepted in the domestic management of fuel.¹⁴³

The 'crisis point' identified by Major General Mulhall¹⁴⁴ came to a head through the 2013 Wraith Review.¹⁴⁵ The Wraith Review identified significant fuel governance concerns, some of which were repeated from earlier reviews,¹⁴⁶ including exposure to 'extreme [workplace health and

safety] risks'; Defence 'remediating facilities that ought to be closed'; and the need for Defence to 'establish access to competent advice'.¹⁴⁷ A former Director of Fuel Operations indicated that these issues resulted in a significantly increased interest in fuel from Defence leaders, including from Chiefs of Service. For example, the Chief of Navy personally signed into effect a decision to change fleet-wide fuel consumption, allowing for the consumption of generic marine diesel fuel rather than a more specialised military-specific blend that had been used for decades.¹⁴⁸

The Wraith Review led to structural changes, with the consequences of this review more influential than those of other fuel reviews. A former Vice Chief of the Defence Force acknowledged the difficult issues that the Wraith Review had brought up for Defence, but considered the review to be 'mostly right'.¹⁴⁹ The Wraith Review in its entirety has not been released. However, a number of other government and Defence publications provide an insight into the content of the Wraith Review. For example, a political review of a Defence Annual Report stated that the establishment of the Fuel Services Branch to support CJLOG as Head of the Defence Fuel Supply Chain arose from the Wraith Review, and that this branch focused on remediating issues associated with the integrity of Defence fuel installations, safety and individual training.¹⁵⁰ Pricing and procurement of fuel in Australia, poor inventory management, and low competence and knowledge within Defence relating to fuel sustainability (which could be improved through support by commercial industry) were all identified as components of the Wraith Review.¹⁵¹ Part of the Wraith Review released following a freedom of information request¹⁵² highlighted safety and fuel holdings and the need to close some domestic Defence fuel facilities as key issues, and implied that a more centralised mechanism to safeguard fuel accountabilities and governance was necessary.¹⁵³ The Turnbull Government accepted the majority of the Wraith Review recommendations.¹⁵⁴ Implementation of these recommendations became the responsibility of the Fuel Services Branch, with good progress made.155

Senior-level oversight of the fuel supply chain was formalised. Centralised powers relating to military fuel sustainability were enhanced, with the Turnbull Government assessing previous arrangements to be 'fragmented and dysfunctional' with no 'clear roles or lines of responsibility'.¹⁵⁶ CJLOG was appointed Head of the Defence Fuel Supply Chain in February 2014,¹⁵⁷ with the Fuel Services Branch established under his leadership. Joint Logistics Command also became a focal point for various external relationships.¹⁵⁸

Command and control for military fuel sustainability was simplified. CJLOG is a two-star military officer responsible for 'the oversight and assurance of the Defence Logistic Capability', reporting to the Chief of the Defence Force through the Commander Joint Capabilities. When a deployment occurs, responsibility for fuel sustainability and broader logistics coordination resides with the Headquarters Joint Operations Command Director General Support, who is responsible to the Commander of Joint Operations Command.¹⁵⁹

Supporting CJLOG in this role is the Defence Logistics Committee (DLC). The DLC meets quarterly and is responsible for the coordination of joint logistics elements and logistics policy. Doctrinally, this includes military fuel sustainability.¹⁶⁰ The DLC's membership comprises representatives from the Service headquarters, Headquarters Joint Operations Command, Joint Logistics Command, the Capability Acquisition and Sustainment Group, the Chief Information Officer Group, and the Estate and Infrastructure Group.

The DFMC, previously a subordinate committee to the DLC, was elevated in importance as a result of the assessed need to improve fuel governance, with CJLOG now chairing both the DLC and the DFMC. Many issues discussed at the DFMC are no longer discussed by the DLC.¹⁶¹ This was a pragmatic decision, given that the chair and the attendees of the DLC and the DFMC are either the same people or from the same organisations, although Major General Mulhall did note that 'fuel is sufficiently unique to warrant an enterprise approach', implying that a higher degree of organisational oversight is important.¹⁶² The Director General of Fuel Services Branch is not a standing member of the DLC¹⁶³ but does not need to be, given the raised profile of the DFMC and CJLOG's leadership of both committees.

CJLOG assigned a weight of effort to fuel governance issues, including the closure of 137 of 140 high-risk fuel governance concerns during financial year 2017–18.¹⁶⁴ Given the volume of evidence, it would be difficult to argue that such measures were not needed or were not worthy of major organisational focus. They were arguably also worthy of the focus of Australian commentary on military fuel sustainability, but did not invoke much interest. However, CJLOG and his staff had finite work capacity. Defence's ability to assure fuel supply for tactical forces was modelled against classified scenarios¹⁶⁵ but there was not a significant organisational effort, and tactical aspects were rarely referred to in government and military fuel sustainability artefacts from 2014 onwards. This was a reasonable prioritisation decision and indicated where policymakers saw the most risk—not for operational deployments or contingencies but in domestic facilities.

Reviews of aspects of military fuel sustainability continued. Some Defence fuel practitioners considered the 'Cost Assurance Review' conducted prior to the 2016 Defence White Paper to have been significant because it resulted in the progression of various funding proposals for fuel.¹⁶⁶ A 2018 ANAO audit compelled a number of military fuel sustainability governance actions.¹⁶⁷ Other reviews and directives that were not fuel specific, such as a 2018 Commonwealth Protective Security Framework directive, assigned further responsibility to CJLOG (in the case of the Commonwealth Protective Security Framework directive, for security relating to Defence's fuel installations).¹⁶⁸ The domestic fuel governance focus was unequivocal. Senior Defence leaders were kept informed of various fuel issues. A former Secretary of Defence indicated that concern about ageing and unsafe fuel facilities, particularly in Darwin, was the main fuel-related issue he dealt with during his tenure,¹⁶⁹ and the need to ensure some control over military fuel supply through the Chinese-leased Darwin Port was another peripheral issue that had been considered at the highest levels of Defence,¹⁷⁰ although not necessarily acted upon.

Wraith, the ANAO audit and other review mechanisms clearly focused Defence on pressing problems relating to fuel, and Defence improved its domestic governance aspects of military fuel sustainability. The Defence Fuel Transformation Program was a resulting response. This program forecasted the need for AU\$1.21 billion (2017 figures) over 30 years to reduce risk and improve the fuel supply chain.¹⁷¹ Some of this funding proposal is yet to be agreed by the Australian Government, but the funding has been foreshadowed in the Defence Integrated Investment Program,¹⁷² in the 2016 White Paper¹⁷³ and in the 2016 Defence Industry Policy Statement,¹⁷⁴ giving some confidence that the funding will be provided. In comparison, there was no similar funding allocation for fuel in the 2012 Defence Capability Plan. Instead, a non-forecast allocation of AU\$150 million (2013 figures) from the Defence Support and Reform Group (now the Estate and Infrastructure Group) was necessary, outside the Defence Capability Plan process, to remediate fuel sustainability safety concerns and shortfalls under federal legislation and other reviews once non-compliance was identified.¹⁷⁵ The 2016 funding allocation demonstrates a level of forward planning for fuel infrastructure and governance investment that was not previously apparent, with an intention to ensure Defence is 'continuously developing, monitoring and maintaining critical infrastructure' including fuel facilities.¹⁷⁶

Of note, the transformation program was described in the Defence Annual Report 2017–18 as a 'corporate enabling service',¹⁷⁷ offering an indication of the non-tactical lens through which policymakers viewed fuel sustainability priorities. The strategic priorities for fuel, mostly relating to fixed infrastructure, were not necessarily influential on fuel planning at the tactical level.¹⁷⁸ Although many references to the Defence fuel supply chain implied that the transformation program encompassed an 'end-to-end' view of all Defence's fuel sustainability interests, ¹⁷⁹ the end-to-end focus ceased at the point of handover to the Services. The Services, rather than Joint Logistics Command, would normally take responsibility for developing the tactical aspects of fuel supply, distribution and security.¹⁸⁰ The task of bringing project documentation to government, and expending allocated money, has already proven to be demanding for Joint Logistics Command.¹⁸¹ As the Defence Fuel Transformation Program is a 30-year program, its implementation will continue to be a major undertaking for CJLOG and the Fuel Services Branch. The effort required to implement the Defence Fuel Transformation Program has left little residual capacity.

The more senior involvement in military fuel sustainability post-2014 solved other problems. There is evidence from earlier DFMCs that the power imbalance between the Services and the joint environment was at times considered limiting for military fuel sustainability and other logistics issues.¹⁸² The 2015 First Principles Review and the greater empowerment of a 'strong strategic centre' almost certainly supported more collegiate outcomes.¹⁸³ A recent Director of Fuel Operations spoke of good relationships between the Services and the joint environment in relation to fuel. He saw problems solved in a collegiate way, after normal aspects of organisational inertia were overcome. He considered the role of the Defence Science and Technology Group to be very important, from a science and evidence perspective, to support change management efforts that affected the Services and the joint environment.¹⁸⁴

CJLOG's oversight of the Defence fuel supply chain allowed resolution of other difficult organisational problems. For example, the challenge of gaining ongoing Service consensus for progression towards a 'single battlefield fuel' was discussed in many pre-2014 DFMC meetings, but with little progress.¹⁸⁵ A recent Navy decision to change its operational fuel to the commonly used marine diesel, away from the military specification F-76, was an indication of recent progression and a collegiate approach.¹⁸⁶ The DFMC that occurred in December 2012 acknowledged that Defence had been unable to implement a business continuity plan for fuel. DFMC members were asked to raise this issue through their respective commands, indicating concern about the lack of action;¹⁸⁷ progression was only achieved after 2014.

In sum, fuel and logistics have long been a declared lower priority of Australian defence policy, and the modest level of resourcing applied to fuel over decades sought to maintain a minimal baseline, but no more than that. Significant external scrutiny eventually led to a view that military fuel sustainability was facing a 'crisis' in domestic safety and governance. The Wraith Review finally incentivised changes to organisational structures and greater investment, optimised to improve accountability at the strategic level. CJLOG experienced 'nothing but a strengthening of authority for the CJLOG position' in military fuel sustainability.¹⁸⁸ The focus was on domestic issues, as no overseas or operational deployment issues were considered to be as contemporarily important as these governance issues by policymakers.¹⁸⁹ Some domestic fuel infrastructure investment had links to operational matters. The 2016 White Paper highlighted the need to 'independently and decisively respond to military threats, including incursions into Australia's air, sea and northern approaches'.¹⁹⁰ Fuel infrastructure, such as storage facilities in northern Australia, was important for this.¹⁹¹ However, the clear recent focus has been on reducing governance and enterprise risk through actions such as closing domestic military fuel facilities—including multiple fuel farms in Darwin¹⁹²—creating efficiencies, and establishing clearer accountability.

This examination of two decades of the policymaker approach to Australian military fuel sustainability demonstrates the wide gap between the fuel issues that have been common in Australian commentary, and the divergent challenges faced by Defence. The divergence has meant that Defence has been unable to benefit from scholarly examination of issues that are most relevant to military capability—for example, the relative merit of prioritising domestic fuel infrastructure over tactical fuel supply capacity.

Further, the common encouragement in Australian commentary for Defence to follow the US lead to 'transform' its military fuel sustainability not only was misunderstood or misinterpreted but also meant that most Australian commentary rarely focused past peripheral capability issues. This trend in Australian military fuel sustainability demonstrates the value of grounding observations in an empirical theoretical or practical framework, rather than relying on simple comparisons with an incomplete view of another nation's actions. If Australian commentators do believe that issues such as the increased use of alternative fuels in tactical operations are important, recommendations can only be meaningful if they account for relative Defence fuel priorities; the relative priority of fuel within military logistics priorities; and the relative priority of military logistics within Australian defence policy.

Australian Army Occasional Paper No. 5

Conclusion

Following the significant loss of personnel and equipment in fuel convoys in Afghanistan and Iraq, US military fuel sustainability became a topic of great interest to policymakers and commentators alike. US military fuel sustainability became a high priority in declared policy from 2009 to 2017. Many military fuel initiatives were commenced, investments were made, and there was a sense that positive steps were being taken by the US military to reduce the tactical dependence on oil.

However, despite the efforts of Secretary Mabus and other political and senior military actors, changes to US military fuel sustainability can only be described as incremental. There was little change to overall military fuel consumption over time, and many of the projects that characterised the declared policy priority were either relatively small or exploratory in nature, or were quietly discontinued. While some commentators have fairly argued that military fuel sustainability declined in organisational priority after 2017, this paper has observed that no measures were taken that would have resulted in fundamental change to the US military at any point.

Many Australian commentators either misinterpreted or misrepresented the extent of US action, consistently arguing that Australia should follow the US lead to implement major changes to military fuel sustainability. Such commentary was a misinterpretation of US action, and was consistently not grounded in existing well-established theory relating to Australian defence policy or military logistics. This paper has examined the actions that have occurred in Defence over the past two decades, and identified a wide gap between the commentary and the practice.

Lamentably, Australian military fuel sustainability commentary has focused on issues of marginal relevance to military outcomes, and Defence's approach has been unable to benefit from robust scholarly scrutiny of the actual fuel priorities, of the relative priorities of fuel within broader military logistics, and of military logistics within broader defence policy. As a result, there is less clarity relating to the factors affecting Australian military fuel sustainability, and this is therefore a topic that would stand to significantly benefit from more investigation and appropriate contextualisation.

Australian Army Occasional Paper No. 5

Endnotes

- 1 Robert Sturrock and Peter Ferguson, *The Longest Conflict: Australia's Climate Security Challenge* (Centre for Policy Development, 2015), 24.
- 2 David Horner, 'Deploying and Sustaining INTERFET in East Timor in 1999', in Peter Dennis and Jeffrey Grey (eds), *Raise, Train and Sustain: Delivering Land Combat Power*— *The 2009 Chief of Army History Conference* (Australian Military History Publications, 2010), 223, 225.
- 3 Daniel Yergin, *The Prize: The Epic Quest for Oil, Money and Power* (Free Press, New York, 1991), 308–371.
- 4 Geological concerns such as 'Peak Oil' were popular in commentary but far less influential in declared policy. For an example of geological concern, see Michael Hornitschek, *War Without Oil: A Catalyst for True Transformation*, Occasional Paper No. 56 (Centre for Strategy and Technology, Air University, Maxwell Air Force Base, Alabama, 17 February 2006), 9–10.
- 5 For example, after the oil shocks of the 1970s. See Joseph Breen, 'Energy, America, and the Military: Can We Get There from Here?', *Air University Review* 32 (November–December 1980).
- 6 United States Government Accountability Office, *Defense Energy: Observations on DoD's Investments in Alternative Fuels*, GAO-15-674, Report to the Chairman, Committee on Armed Services (House of Representatives, July 2015), 13.
- 7 President of the United States, *National Security Strategy of the United States of America* (The White House, Washington, DC, February 2015), Introduction.
- 8 Donna Miles, 'Obama Praises DOD's Energy Leadership, Stewardship', Air Force News [website], 26 January 2012, <u>https://www.af.mil/News/Article/111794/obama-praises-dods-energy-leadership-stewardship</u>; Brad Plumer, 'Obama's 2014 State of the Union Address', Washington Post [website], 28 January 2014, <u>http://www.washingtonpost.</u> <u>com/blogs/wonkblog/wp/2014/01/28/read-obamas-2014-state-of-the-union-address</u>, accessed 10 March 2020.
- 9 Anthony Bergin, 'Defence Must Regard Climate Change as a Serious Security Issue', Australian Strategic Policy Institute [website], 2 December 2016, <u>https://www.aspi.org.au/opinion/defence-must-regard-climate-change-serious-security-issue</u>, accessed 10 March 2020.
- 10 Juan Vitali, Joseph Lamothe, Charles Toomey Jr, Virgil Peoples and Kerry McCabe, *Study on the Mobile Nuclear Power Plants for Ground Operations* (United States Army, Deputy Chief of Staff G-4, 2018), iii–iv.
- 11 United States House Armed Services Committee, *The Investigation into the Attack on the USS Cole* (Washington, DC, May 2001), 15–16.

- 12 For example, United States Department of Defense, *Energy Managers Handbook* (Washington, DC, 25 August 2005), 1; United States Air Force, *Air Refueling*, Air Force Doctrine Document 2-6.2 (HQ Air Force Doctrine Center, 19 July 1999).
- 13 United States Defense Science Board, More Capable Warfighting through Reduced Fuel Burden (Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Acquisition, Technology and Logistics, Washington, DC, January 2001), 1–5; United States Defense Science Board, More Fight, Less Fuel (Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Acquisition, Technology and Logistics, Washington, DC, February 2008), 11–15.
- 14 Noah Shachtman, 'How the Navy's Incompetence Sank the "Green Fleet", *Wired* [website], 17 July 2012, <u>https://www.wired.com/2012/07/green-fleet/</u>, accessed 10 March 2020.
- 15 United States Department of Defense, *Fiscal Year 2012 Operational Energy Annual Report*, C-584E097 (September 2013), 2.
- 16 United States Government Accountability Office, *Defence Energy: Observations on DoD's Investments in Alternative Fuels*.
- 17 Geoff Dabelko, 'Admiral Mullen and the "Strategic Imperative" of Energy Security', *New Security Beat* [website], 13 October 2010, <u>http://www.newsecuritybeat.org/2010/10/admiral-mullen-and-strategicimperative.html</u>, accessed 10 March 2019.
- 18 Miles, 'Obama Praises DOD's Energy Leadership, Stewardship'; Plumer, 'Obama's 2014 State of the Union Address'.
- 19 United States Defense Logistics Agency Energy, *Fiscal Year 2018 Fact Book* (Virginia, 2018), 26.
- 20 United States Department of Defense, *2014 Climate Change Adaptation Roadmap* (Office of the Assistant Secretary of Defense (Energy, Installations and Environment), Virginia, 2014), 1.
- 21 United States Air Force, *Combat Support*, Air Force Doctrine Document 4-0 (Center for Doctrine Development and Education, 28 July 2011), III–15, argued that fuel 'is usually a major limiting factor and therefore should be the primary focus'.
- 22 For example, the Clean Energy Act 2007 compelled Department of Defense action to reduce fossil fuel consumption in domestic bases. The key aspects of the legislation were summarised in United States Congressional Research Service, *Energy Independence and Security Act of 2007: A Summary of Major Provisions* (Washington, DC, 21 December 2007), 5–8.
- 23 Kristine Blackwell, *Department of Defense and Energy Independence: Optimism Meets Reality* (United States Air University, Maxwell Air Force Base, Alabama, April 2007), 1.
- 24 Julia Whitty, 'My Heart-Stopping Ride Aboard the Navy's Great Green Fleet', *Mother Jones* [website], March/April 2013, <u>https://www.motherjones.com/environment/2013/02/</u> <u>navy-climate-change-great-green-fleet/</u>, accessed 20 March 2019.
- 25 'Rough Waters for the Great Green Fleet', *Our Environment Online* [website], June 2012, <u>http://www.ourenvironment.info/rimpac.html</u>, accessed 20 March 2019.
- 26 Jeffrey Eggers, 'The Fuel Gauge of National Security', Armed Forces Journal [website], May 2008, <u>http://armedforcesjournal.com/the-fuel-gauge-of-national-security/</u>, accessed 10 March 2020; Nader Elhefnawy, 'Toward a Long-Range Energy Security Policy', *Parameters* 36 (Spring 2006), 109; Huw Williams, 'Military Planners Explore Options for Reducing Reliance on Oil-Based Energy', Jane's International Defence Review 42 (January 2009), 58; Meg Slattery, Energy Security in the United States Department of Defense: How and Why the US Army and Navy Are Reducing Their Reliance on Fossil Fuels and the Electrical Grid, and What It Could Mean for the Rest of Us, Senior Capstone Projects Paper 408 (Vassar College, 2015), 4.

- 27 John C Stennis, 'The Great Green Fleet Explained', *Navy.mil* [website], 27 June 2016, <u>https://www.navy.mil/submit/display.asp?story_id=95398</u>, accessed 10 March 2020.
- 28 Moshe Schwartz, Katherine Blakely and Ronald O'Rourke, Department of Defense Energy Initiatives: Background and Issues for Congress (Congressional Research Service, 10 December 2012).
- 29 Sturrock and Ferguson, The Longest Conflict: Australia's Climate Security Challenge, 24.
- 30 Climate Council, *Be Prepared: Climate Change, Security and Australia's Defence Force* (Canberra, 2015), 68.
- 31 Michael Thomas, The Securitization of Climate Change: Australian and United States' Military Responses (2003–2013) (Springer International Publishing, 2017), 13.
- 32 Anthony Bergin and Zoe Glasson, 'Implications of Climate Change for Australia's National Security', submission to Senate Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade References Committee, 26 July 2017, 7–8.
- 33 Albert Palazzo, 'The Military Revolution of Limits and the Changing Character of War', Small Wars Journal [website], 21 October 2013, <u>http://smallwarsjournal.com/jrnl/art/the-military-revolution-of-limits-and-the-changing-character-of-war</u>, accessed 10 March 2020.
- 34 Senate Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade References Committee, *Implications of Climate Change for Australia's National Security* (Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, May 2018), 55–62. Participant organisations included the Climate Council, the Australian Council for International Development, Oxfam Australia, ActionAid Australia, Breakthrough National Centre for Climate Restoration, and the Centre for Policy Development.
- 35 Others included Allan Hawke and Ric Smith, *Australian Defence Force Posture Review* (Australian Government, Canberra, 30 March 2012), vii.
- 36 Department of Defence, *2016 Defence White Paper* (Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, 2016), 19, foreshadowed an intent to 'fix underinvestment' in fuel infrastructure.
- 37 Department of Defence, *2016 Integrated Investment Program* (Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, 2016), 61.
- 38 For example, the claim that the Australian military would 'minimise its environmental footprint' in the conduct of overseas operations was an ambitious claim that would be difficult to realise. See Department of Defence, *Defence Environmental Strategic Plan 2010–2014* (Canberra, 2010), 5.
- 39 House of Representatives, Official Committee Hansard: Joint Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade—Department of Defence Annual Report 2016–17 (Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, 4 May 2018), 37.
- 40 United States Department of Defense, *2016 Operational Energy Strategy* (Office of the Assistant Secretary of Defense for Energy, Installations and Environment, Washington, DC, 2016), 9.
- 41 Richard Spencer, 'Department of the Navy Mission, Vision and Priorities', memorandum (Secretary of the Navy, 29 August 2017), 1–2.
- 42 United States Department of the Navy, *Business Operations Plan: Fiscal Years* 2019–2021, Version 1.3 (October 2018), 61.
- 43 For example, United States Defense Science Board, Trends and Implications of Climate Change for National and International Security (Under Secretary of Defense for Acquisition, Technology and Logistics, Washington, DC, 4 October 2011), 90, argued that the 'fragmented approach' to improving military fuel sustainability was 'inadequate to the need'.
- 44 For example, United States Department of Defense, *Fiscal Year 2017 Operational Energy Annual Report*, B-2BEE8A1 (Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Acquisition and Sustainment, July 2018), 9–10, highlighted actions such as reductions in the amount of fuel carried on aircraft during training, and altering the air speeds at which air-to-air refuelling was conducted.

- 45 Ibid., 17–21. Navy fuel consumption barely varied: 28.4 million barrels in 2013; 28.2 million barrels in 2014; 28.5 million barrels in 2015; and 28.5 million barrels in 2016.
- 46 Neta Crawford, *Pentagon Fuel Use, Climate Change, and the Costs of War* (Watson Institute, Brown University, 12 November 2019), 10.
- 47 Michael O'Hanlon, *Forecasting Change in Military Technology, 2020–2040* (The Brookings Institution, Washington, DC, 2018), 5.
- 48 Stacy Closson, 'The Military and Energy: Moving the United States Beyond Oil', *Energy Policy* 61 (2013), 312.
- 49 Gene Castles and Ashish Bendre, 'Economic Benefits of Hybrid Drive Propulsion for Naval Ships', Proceedings of the 2009 IEEE Electric Ship Technologies Symposium (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Piscataway, NJ, 2009), 515–520.
- 50 Ray Mabus, speech, Naval Energy Forum, McLean, Virginia, 14 October 2009.
- 51 Tyler Rogoway, 'Navy Ditches Its Plan to Upgrade 34 Destroyers with Hybrid Electric Drives', *The Drive* [website], 14 March 2018, <u>https://www.thedrive.com/the-war-zone/19237/navy-ditches-its-plan-to-upgrade-34-destroyers-with-hybrid-electric-drives, accessed 10 March 2020.</u>
- 52 United States Department of Defense, *Fiscal Year 2017 Operational Energy Annual Report*, 13.
- 53 For example, Rinze Geertsma, Klaas Visser, Rudy Negenborn and Hans Hopman, 'Parallel Control for Hybrid Propulsion of Multifunction Ships', *IFAC Papers Online* 50(1) (2017), 2296–2300.
- 54 Ben Werner, 'Lawmakers Want Navy to Take New Look at Destroyer Hybrid Electric Drive', USNI News [website], 5 June 2019, <u>https://news.usni.org/2019/06/05/</u> <u>lawmakers-want-navy-to-take-new-look-destroyer-hybrid-electric-drive-program</u>, accessed 10 March 2020.
- 55 Tina Casey, 'US Army Goes All Chevy Volt with New Hybrid EV', *Clean Technica* [website], 16 September 2013, <u>https://cleantechnica.com/2013/09/16/us-army-will-replacehumvee-with-ulv-hybrid-ev/</u>, accessed 10 March 2020.
- 56 Andrew Tarantola, 'The FED Hybrid Humvee Will Save the US Army Millions at the Pump', *Gizmodo* [website], 30 December 2011, <u>http://gizmodo.com/5869171/the-fed-humvee-is-going-to-save-the-army-millionsd-at-the-pump</u>, accessed 10 March 2020; Candace Lombardi, 'Hybrid Humvee Coming up over the Horizon', *CNET* [website], 5 November 2009, <u>https://www.cnet.com/news/hybrid-humvee-coming-up-over-the-horizon</u>, accessed 10 March 2020.
- 57 'Army, USMC Set the JLTV in Motion', *Defense Update* [website], 27 January 2008, <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20080509080944/http://defense-update.com/features/du-1-08/ltv_in_motion.htm</u>, accessed 10 April 2019.
- 58 Ray Mabus, speech, deployment of the Great Green Fleet, Naval Air Station North Island, San Diego, 20 January 2016.
- 59 Sandra Erwin, 'Pentagon Unveils Campaign Plan to Reduce Fuel Use', National Defense Magazine [website], 14 June 2011, <u>http://www.nationaldefensemagazine.org/ articles/2011/6/14/pentagon-unveils-campaign-plan-to-reduce-fuel-use</u>, accessed 15 April 2019.
- 60 CNA Military Advisory Board, Advanced Energy and U.S. National Security (CNA, Virginia, 2017), 38.
- 61 Sandra Erwin, 'Pentagon's Influence in Green Energy Innovation Overestimated, Study Says', National Defense Magazine [website], 27 March 2012, <u>http://www.nationaldefensemagazine.org/articles/2012/3/27/pentagons-influence-in-green-energy-innovation-overestimated-study-says</u> accessed 10 March 2020.

- 62 Jerry Warner and Peter Singer, Fueling the "Balance": A Defense Energy Strategy Primer, Foreign Policy Paper Series No. 17 (The Brookings Institution, Washington, DC, 2009), 2; Scott Rew, 'Protecting Our Logistics Assets: A Look To The (Near) Future', Army Logistician 41(3) (May-June 2009), 35–36.
- 63 Office of Congresswoman Gabrielle Giffords, *The Giffords-Udall Department of Defense Energy Security Act* (2010), Executive Summary, 1.
- 64 'Department of Defense Press Briefing by Maj. Gen. Martin, Brig. Gen. Fienga and Deputy for Budget Gleason on the FY 2017 Air Force Budget Request in the Pentagon Press Briefing Room', transcript, United States Department of Defense website, 9 February 2016, <u>https://dod.defense.gov/News/Transcripts/Transcript-View/Article/654828/ department-of-defense-press-briefing-by-maj-gen-martin-brig-gen-fienga-and-depu/, accessed 8 April 2019.</u>
- 65 'Air Force Posts Requests for Proposals for Tankers', United States Department of Defense website, 30 January 2007, <u>http://archive.defense.gov/Releases/Release.aspx?ReleaselD=10463</u>, accessed 15 March 2019.
- 66 Christopher Bolkcom, *Air Force Aerial Refuelling*, CRS Report RS20941 (Congressional Research Service, 20 March 2007), 1.
- 67 Jeremiah Gertler, *Air Force KC-46A Pegasus Tanker Aircraft Program*, CRS Report RL34398 (Congressional Research Service, 17 October 2019), Summary.
- 68 Ronald O'Rourke, Navy John Lewis (TAO-205) Class Oiler Shipbuilding Program: Background and Issues for Congress, CRS Report R43546 (Congressional Research Service, 22 October 2018), Summary.
- 69 Ibid., 8.
- 70 Commonwealth of Australia, *Liquid Fuel Emergency Act 1984*, Part I, Section 6.
- 71 Department of Defence, 2016 Defence White Paper, 100.
- 72 Anthony Bergin, 'Defence Must Regard Climate Change as a Serious Security Issue'.
- 73 Athol Yates and Neil Greet, *Energy Security for Australia: Crafting a Comprehensive Energy Security Policy* (Engineers Australia, Barton, ACT, 2014).
- 74 George Cyrus Thorpe, Pure Logistics: The Science of War Preparation (National Defense University Press, Washington, DC, 1986), 2; Henry Eccles, Logistics in the National Defense (Naval War College Press, Rhode Island, 1997), 18.
- 75 Roland G Ruppenthal, Logistical Support of the Armies: Volume 1, May 1941–September 1944 (Center of Military History, United States Army, Washington, DC, 1953), vii, 516.
- 76 Department of the Environment and Energy, *Australia's Emissions Projections 2018* (Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, 2018), 19.
- 77 Senate Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade References Committee, *Implications of Climate Change for Australia's National Security*, 58–62.
- 78 Michael Thomas, 'Bushfire Crisis Shows Australia Needs a Strategic Response to Climate Change', *The Strategist* [website], 14 January 2020, <u>https://www.aspistrategist.org.au/</u> <u>bushfire-crisis-shows-australia-needs-a-strategic-response-to-climate-change/</u>, accessed 1 March 2020.
- 79 Martin White, 'Linking National and Military Energy Security in Australia: A Legitimate Nexus, or Political and Economic Expediency?', Security Challenges 3 (2013), 48.
- Interview with Mr Dennis Richardson, Secretary of the Department of Defence (2012–2017) and Australian Ambassador to the United States (2005–2010), 15 April 2019; Interview with Colonel Mark Harnwell, Australian Army Fuel Advisor (2019), 26 February 2019.

- Interview with Major General David Mulhall, Commander Joint Logistics (2017–2019), 26 February 2019.
- 82 Department of Defence, *Getting Sirius: A Project Manager's Story* (Defence Materiel Organisation, 2008), 25.
- 83 Parliamentary Standing Committee on Public Works, *Report 1/2018: Referrals Made December 2017* (Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, March 2018), 23; Australian Government, *Budget 2017–18*, Portfolio Budget Statements 2017–18, Budget Related Paper No. 1.4A, Defence Portfolio (Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, 2017), 154.
- 84 Australian National Audit Office, Management of Australian Defence Force Deployments to East Timor, Audit Report No. 38 of 2001–02 (Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, 2002), 79.
- 85 Australian National Audit Office, Australian Defence Force Fuel Management, Audit Report No. 44 of 2001–02 (Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, 2002), 25.
- 86 Ibid, 16.
- 87 For example, Defence Fuel Management Committee, Minutes, Meeting at Russell Offices, Canberra, 13 February 2006, 5, stated that Defence had not complied with government direction to use ethanol blended E10 fuel for all government vehicles.
- 88 Defence Fuel Management Committee, Minutes, Meeting at Russell Offices, Canberra, 13 February 2006, 2.
- 89 Department of Defence, Defence Instruction (General) Logistics 09-5: Responsibilities for the Management of Fuels and Lubricants within the Australian Defence Force (Canberra, 2004), 6–7.
- 90 Australian National Audit Office, *Australian Defence Force Fuel Management*, 24, highlighted that the Joint Fuels and Lubricants Agency was formed just prior to being given this responsibility.
- 91 Department of Defence, *Defence Fuel Management Committee Terms of Reference* (Canberra, April 2004), 6.
- 92 Andrew Gillespie, 'Fuel: Quenching Defence's Thirst', *The Link: Australian Defence Logistics Magazine* (Joint Logistics Command, Canberra, 2010), 11, highlighted the difficulty of unpredictable energy prices.
- 93 Department of Defence, *Defence Fuel Management Committee Terms of Reference* (Canberra, April 2004), 7.
- 94 Department of Defence, *Defence Fuel Management Committee Terms of Reference* (Canberra, 29 October 2008), 2.
- 95 Interview with Air Commodore Stephen Winterton, Director General Fuel Services (2018–2019), 15 February 2019.
- 96 Defence Fuel Management Committee, Attendance List, Canberra, 27 April 2004, 1.
- 97 Defence Fuel Management Committee, Minutes, Meeting at Defence Plaza, Sydney, 19 May 2005, 1.
- 98 Defence Fuel Management Committee, Minutes, Meeting at Russell Offices, Canberra, 27 April 2004, 8.
- 99 Defence Fuel Management Committee, Minutes, Meeting at Defence Plaza, Sydney, 19 May 2005, 2.
- 100 Australian National Audit Office, Australian Defence Force Fuel Management, 14.
- 101 Defence Fuel Management Committee, Minutes, Meeting at Defence Plaza, Sydney, 19 May 2005, 3.
- 102 Defence Fuel Management Committee, Minutes, Meeting at Russell Offices, Canberra, 16 March 2010, 3.

- 103 Defence Materiel Organisation, *Joint Electronic Fuel Management Project Newsletter* 12 (December 2011), 1.
- 104 Australian National Audit Office, Defence's Procurement of Fuels, Petroleum, Oils, Lubricants, and Card Services, Audit Report No. 28 of 2017–18 (Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, 2018), 8.
- 105 Interview with Air Commodore Stephen Winterton.
- 106 Department of Defence, *Defence Fuel Management Committee Terms of Reference* (Canberra, April 2004), 6–7.
- 107 Defence Fuel Management Committee, Minutes, Meeting at Russell Offices, Canberra, 13 February 2006, 1.
- 108 Defence Fuel Management Committee, Minutes, Meeting at Russell Offices, 16 September 2008, 1.
- 109 Australian Government, Australian Government Response to the Joint Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade Report: Review of the Defence Annual Report 2013–14 (Canberra, November 2016), 8.
- 110 Interview with Dr Hugh Saddler, Australian energy industry consultant, 23 November 2010.
- 111 Australian Government, Australian Government Response to the Joint Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade Report: Review of the Defence Annual Report 2013–14, 8–9. Defence argued that the higher cost of oil by 2030 would stimulate additional research into alternatives to oil, implying that it was prudent for Defence to not take any major action until this time.
- 112 Defence Fuel Management Committee, Minutes, Meeting at Russell Offices, Canberra, 16 September 2008, 1.
- 113 Although Department of Defence, Australian Defence Strategic Logistics Strategy (Joint Logistics Command, Canberra, November 2010), 8–9, 27, identified fuel to be the greatest supply chain risk.
- 114 Mark Thomson, *War and Profit: Doing Business on the Battlefield* (Australian Strategic Policy Institute, Canberra, March 2005), 28.
- 115 Defence Fuel Management Committee, Stakeholder List, Version 2 (February 2010),1, listed a Brigadier as the Chair of the DFMC, and numerous full Colonel equivalents as members.
- 116 Defence Fuel Management Committee, Minutes, Meeting at Russell Offices, Canberra, 16 September 2008, 1, indicated that CJLOG and an Army Brigadier attended the 'reinvigorated' committee meeting, whereas Defence Fuel Management Committee, Minutes, Meeting at Russell Offices, Canberra, 3 December 2008, 1, indicated that attendees were Colonel equivalent and below.
- 117 Department of Defence, *Defence Fuel Management Committee Terms of Reference* (Canberra, 29 October 2008), 1.
- 118 Six fuel management objectives were outlined in Defence Fuel Management Committee, Minutes, Meeting at Russell Offices, Canberra, 22 September 2010, 26. These included the need to incorporate surge requirements into supply arrangements; actively manage fuel and reduce fuel demand; advise and support operations; support a national approach to mitigate the challenges of 'Peak Oil'; emphasise fuel efficiency; and be a 'fast follower' in technology.
- 119 Defence Fuel Management Committee, Minutes, Meeting at Russell Offices, Canberra, 16 September 2008, 1.
- 120 Department of Defence, *Defending Australia in the Asia Pacific Century: Force 2030— Defence White Paper 2009* (Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, 2009), 124.
- 121 Interview with Major General David Mulhall.

- 122 Department of Defence, Defence Submission to Joint Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade Inquiry into the Defence Annual Report 2007–08 (Canberra, 2009), 4.
- 123 Interview with Group Captain Tim Pedley, Director of Fuel Operations (2017–2018), 13 February 2019.
- 124 Interview with Major Cameron Leckie, Australian Defence Force Peak Oil Study Group, 1 November 2010.
- 125 For example, Cameron Leckie, 'Peak Oil and the Australian Army', *Australian Army Journal* 4(3) (Summer 2007), 23–25.
- 126 Department of Defence, *Defence Logistics Manual*, 1st Edition (Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, January 2010), Part 2, Volume 2, Annex C to Chapter 3.
- 127 Department of Defence, Defence Instruction (General) Logistics 4-1-011: Defence Management of Fuels and Lubricants (Canberra, 2009), 1.
- 128 Department of Defence, *Defence Fuel Management Committee Terms of Reference* (Canberra, 29 October 2008), 2.
- 129 The single battlefield fuel policy was regularly discussed in DFMC minutes from 2003 onwards. While this policy was ambitious in scope, the DFMC provided consistency in managing it.
- 130 Defence Fuel Management Committee, Minutes, Meeting at Russell Offices, Canberra, 22 June 2010, 2.
- 131 Australian National Audit Office, Australian Defence Force Fuel Management, 23.
- 132 For example, interview with a member of the Australian Defence Force Peak Oil Study Group, 22 November 2010. The member stated that the Directorate of Strategic Fuel had significantly improved fuel sustainability.
- 133 Interview with Air Commodore Stephen Winterton.
- 134 Bob Richards and Ken Noye, 'Defence Fuel Transformation Program', presentation to Defence Fuel Symposium, Canberra, 2017, Slide 3.
- 135 Peter Marshall, presentation to Fuels Remediation Summit, Canberra, 21–22 August 2013, Slides 1–3.
- 136 Training Systems Services, Interim Report: Review of Defence Fuel Training, report for Strategic Logistics Branch (2013), 5.
- 137 Marshall, presentation to Fuels Remediation Summit, Slide 10.
- 138 Defence Fuel Management Committee, Minutes, Meeting at Russell Offices, Canberra, 29 August 2013.
- 139 Allan Hawke and Ric Smith, Australian Defence Force Posture Review, vii.
- 140 Department of Defence, *Defence White Paper 2013* (Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, 2013), 51.
- 141 Department of Defence, *Annual Report 2016–17* (Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, October 2017), 2, 14.
- 142 Interview with Lieutenant Colonel David Beaumont, senior Army logistics officer, 19 February 2019.
- 143 Interview with Air Commodore Stephen Winterton.
- 144 Interview with Major General David Mulhall.
- 145 Spectrum Energy, Australian Government Department of Defence: External Review of the Defence Fuel Supply Chain and Remediation Program, Wraith Review (31 December 2013).
- 146 Richards and Noye, 'Defence Fuel Transformation Program', Slide 3.

- 147 Spectrum Energy, External Review of the Defence Fuel Supply Chain and Remediation Program, 9, 11.
- 148 Interview with Group Captain Tim Pedley.
- 149 Interview with Vice Admiral Ray Griggs, Vice Chief of Defence Force (2014–2018) and Chief of Navy (2011–2014), 18 April 2019.
- 150 Australian Government, Australian Government Response to the Joint Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade Report: Review of the Defence Annual Report 2013–14, 9.
- 151 Australian National Audit Office, Defence's Procurement of Fuels, Petroleum, Oils, Lubricants, and Card Services, 36.
- 152 Department of Defence, 'Response to Canberra Times Reporting on Fuel Supply in Defence', media release, Department of Defence website, 17 April 2015, <u>https://news.defence.gov.au/media/on-the-record/response-canberra-times-reporting-fuel-supply-defence</u>, accessed 1 April 2019.
- 153 Spectrum Energy, External Review of the Defence Fuel Supply Chain and Remediation Program, 9.
- 154 Australian Government, Australian Government Response to the Joint Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade Report: Review of the Defence Annual Report 2013–14, 9.
- 155 Department of Defence, *Annual Report 2017–18* (Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, 2018), 127.
- 156 Australian Government, Australian Government Response to the Joint Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade Report: Review of the Defence Annual Report 2013–14, 9.
- 157 Department of Defence, *Defence Fuel Management Committee Terms of Reference* (Canberra, 29 February 2016), 1.
- 158 For example, Defence Fuel Management Committee, Minutes, Meeting at Russell Offices, Canberra, 22 September 2010, 5, indicated earlier collaboration between the Defence Science and Technology Organisation and the Department of Resources, Energy and Trade. Joint Logistics Command also has representation on the National Oil Energy Security Committee.
- 159 Australian Army, Land Warfare Doctrine 4-0: Logistics (Canberra, 2018), 45.
- 160 Department of Defence, Defence Logistics Manual, Volume 1, Chapter 3.
- 161 Interview with Air Commodore Stephen Winterton.
- 162 Interview with Major General David Mulhall.
- 163 Department of Defence, *Defence Logistics Manual*, Volume 1, Chapter 3.
- 164 Department of Defence, Annual Report 2017-18, 127.
- 165 Interview with Major General David Mulhall; Interview with Air Commodore Martin Smith, Director General Logistics, Air Force (2019), 1 April 2019.
- 166 Interview with Air Commodore Stephen Winterton.
- 167 Australian National Audit Office, Defence's Procurement of Fuels, Petroleum, Oils, Lubricants, and Card Services, 7–11.
- 168 Ibid, 50.
- 169 Interview with Mr Dennis Richardson.
- 170 Interview with Vice Admiral Ray Griggs.
- 171 Richards and Noye, 'Defence Fuel Transformation Program', Slide 3.
- 172 Department of Defence, 2016 Integrated Investment Program, 61.
- 173 Department of Defence, 2016 Defence White Paper, 84, 96, 108.

- 174 Department of Defence, 2016 Defence Industry Policy Statement (Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, 2016), 25.
- 175 Marshall, presentation to Fuels Remediation Summit, Slide 10.
- 176 Department of Defence, 2016 Integrated Investment Program, 15.
- 177 Richards and Noye, 'Defence Fuel Transformation Program', Slide 3.
- 178 This point was observed in three separate interviews. Interview with a senior Army logistics officer, 20 February 2019; Interview with a previous Commanding Officer, 10th Force Support Battalion, 25 February 2019; Interview with a previous Commanding Officer of HMAS Sirius, 16 March 2019.
- 179 Spectrum Energy, External Review of the Defence Fuel Supply Chain and Remediation Program, 9.
- 180 Interview with Warrant Officer Class One Jason Hartley, Conductor of Fuel (2019), Headquarters 17th Combat Service Support Brigade (2019), 25 February 2019.
- 181 Interview with Air Commodore Stephen Winterton.
- 182 Gary Waters and John Blackburn, Australian Defence Logistics: The Need to Enable and Equip Logistics Transformation, Kokoda Paper No. 19 (The Kokoda Foundation, Kingston, ACT, June 2014), 9, highlighted the power imbalance.
- 183 First Principles Review Team, *First Principles Review: Creating One Defence* (Department of Defence, Canberra, 2015), 5.
- 184 Interview with Group Captain Tim Pedley.
- 185 For example, Defence Fuel Management Committee, Minutes, Meeting at Russell Offices, 16 March 2010, 2.
- 186 Interview with Air Commodore Stephen Winterton.
- 187 Defence Fuel Management Committee, Minutes, Meeting at Russell Offices, Canberra, 5 December 2012, 4.
- 188 Interview with Major General David Mulhall.
- 189 Interview with Air Commodore Stephen Winterton.
- 190 Department of Defence, 2016 Defence White Paper, 17.
- 191 Department of Defence, *Future Defence Fuel Network Implementation Strategy* (Joint Logistics Command—Fuel Services Branch, Fuel Network Review, July 2017), 79.
- 192 Spectrum Energy, External Review of the Defence Fuel Supply Chain and Remediation Program, 13.

About the Author

Brigadier Martin White is a Canberra-based Army officer with military operational experience in countries including Timor Leste, Iraq and Afghanistan. He was awarded a Conspicuous Service Cross in 2016, and his PhD was conferred by La Trobe University in 2020. This occasional paper has been adapted from his doctoral research.

researchcentre.army.gov.au

